

CP1322 Attachment– CSD Architectural Principles Document v4.0 Redline Text v0.1

1 General

1.1 Purpose

1.1.1 This document sets out the principles that underpin the architecture of the Code Subsidiary Document (CSD) set. It sets out general principles concerning the contents of the CSDs along with more detailed guidance on the contents of each type of document. It also captures the principles governing the ~~modification~~change of to existing and the creation of new CSDs.

1.1.2 All future changes to the CSD suite should be undertaken in a manner consistent with this ~~architectural~~Architectural principles~~Principles document~~Document.

1.2 NO CHANGES

1.3 Coverage of Code Subsidiary Documents

1.3.1 The constituent CSDs are defined in Section H1 of the Balancing and Settlement Code (BSC). They comprise:

- (a) BSC Procedures;
- (b) Codes of Practice;
- (c) BSC Service Descriptions;
- (d) The Party Service Lines;
- (e) Data Catalogues;
- (f) The Communication Requirements Documents; and
- (g) The Reporting Catalogue.

1.3.2 An up-to-date list of the CSDs, indicating the version number of the then in force version¹ together with the date when it became effective is maintained by ~~ELEXON~~BSCCo. This is published as part of the BSC Baseline Statement.

1.4 Modification and Creation of Code Subsidiary Documents

1.4.1 Existing CSDs may be modified and new CSDs created in accordance with Section F3 of the BSC.

1.4.2 Such changes may only be made if and to the extent that the modified or new CSD:

- (a) Is consistent with, and does not impair, or frustrate or invalidate, the provisions of the BSC; and

¹ Specific rules governing the Codes of Practice are specified in the Section L1 of the BSC.

- (b) does not impose new obligations or restrictions of a material nature on Parties or Party Agents (or classes thereof) which are not authorised or envisaged by, or subsidiary to, the rights and obligations of Parties under, the BSC.

Where a Panel Committee considers that an obligation should be included within a CSD that is not reflective of an obligation within the BSC then the express approval of the BSC Panel shall be sought (which may necessitate raising a supporting Modification Proposal to the BSC).

1.4.3 When considering a proposed change to the CSD suite, the Panel or relevant Panel Committee shall additionally ensure that the BSC and CSDs together continue to facilitate the achievement of the Applicable BSC Objective(s), namely:

- (a) The efficient discharge by the licensee [i.e. the Transmission Company] of the obligations imposed upon it by this licence [i.e. the Transmission Licence];
- (b) The efficient, economic and co-ordinated operation of the national transmission system;
- (c) Promoting effective competition in the generation and supply of electricity, and (so far as consistent therewith) promoting such competition in the sale and purchase of electricity;
- (d) Promoting efficiency in the implementation and administration of the balancing and settlement arrangements.

1.4.4 In particular where additional prescription is added to a CSD then the net effect of ~~the revised~~the revised suite of CSDs and BSC must be to better facilitate the Applicable BSC Objectives. Where this test is not achieved then the change should not be progressed.

1.4.5 Section F3 of the BSC requires that, prior to agreeing a change the following activities shall be undertaken:

- (a) consultation shall take place with Parties and interested third parties in a manner appropriate to the complexity, importance and urgency of the proposed change;
- (b) regard shall be given to any representations made during such consultation;
- (c) the proposed draft changes shall be copied to each Party and otherwise published in such a manner as seen fit; and
- (d) Parties and interested third parties shall be given a reasonable opportunity to comment on proposed changes, having regard to the urgency of the matter.

1.4.6 Detailed procedures relating to the processing of changes to the existing CSDs and the creation of new CSDs are set out in BSCP40.

1.4.7 The Panel has delegated its powers, functions and responsibilities to approve changes to the existing individual Code Subsidiary Documents to identified Panel Committees. The Baseline Statement records which Panel Committee discharges this for each CSD.

1.5 List of Acronyms

1.5.1 Other acronyms and defined terms take the meanings defined in the Balancing and Settlement Code (the Code), Section X.

Acronym / Term	Definition
BMRA	Balancing Mechanism Reporting Agent
BPM	Business Process Model
BSC	The Balancing and Settlement Code
The Code	The Balancing and Settlement Code
BSCP	Balancing and Settlement Code Procedure
CDCA	Central Data Collection Agent
CoP	Code of Practice
CRA	Central Registration Agent
CSD	Code Subsidiary Document
CVA	Central Volume Allocation
DTC	Data Transfer Catalogue
ECVAA	Energy Contract Volume Allocation Agent
FAA	Funds Administration Agent
GSP	Grid Supply Point
MRASCo	Master Registration Agent Agreement Service Company
NDFC	NETA Data File Catalogue
NETA	New Electricity Trading Arrangements
PSL	Party Service Line
SAA	Settlement Administration Agent
SVA	Supplier Volume Allocation
SVAA	Supplier Volume Allocation Agent
TAA	Technical Assurance Agent

2 General Structure of CSDs

2.1 NO CHANGES

2.2 Categories of Configurable Items

2.2.1 All BSC Configurable Items, of which CSDs form a subset, are either Category 1 or Category 2 Configurable Items, as defined in BSCP40.

2.2.2 Where a Change Proposal is raised that impacts the following types of Category 1 Configurable Items, redlined drafting of the proposed changes to the CSDs must be included with the Change Proposal:

(a) BSC Procedure (BSCP);

- (b) Party Service Line (PSL);
- (c) Code of Practice (CoP);
- (d) Business Definition Document (including Data Catalogues, the Reporting Catalogue and the Communication Requirements Document); and
- (e) Interface Design Document (IDD) (a Configurable Item but not a CSD – included for completeness).

2.2.3 When a Change Proposal does not impact Category 1 Configurable Items, the redlined changes required to support the solution need not be provided at the same time as the formal Change Proposal. All other Configurable Items, including the following types of CSDs, are known as Category 2 Configurable Items:

- (a) BSC Service Description; and
- (b) User Requirements Specification (a Configurable Item but not a CSD – included for completeness).

Other Category 2 Configurable Items exist which are outside the scope of this document.

3 Contents of ~~Specific~~ Category 1 CSD types

3.1 BSC Procedures (BSCPs)

3.1.1 Annex X-1 of the BSC defines a BSC Procedure as being “*a document of that title, as established or adopted and from time to time modified by the Panel in accordance with the Code, setting out procedures to be complied with (by Parties, Party Agents, BSC Agents, BSCCo, the Panel and others) in, and other matters relating to, the implementation of the Code*”.

3.1.2 The BSCPs define the relationships, timescales and interactions between participants and specify the information or other outputs to be exchanged between them. ~~They describe as~~ a step by step process, and can be divided into two broad categories as follows. The BSCPs can contain guidance (e.g. guidance on how a section of a form should be completed) and may contain fields within forms to allow for the provision of optional (but not mandatory) supporting information. Where this is done it should be clearly marked as being guidance or optional respectively.

~~3.1.3 Category 1 BSCPs: Interaction between BSC Parties, Party Agents and Central Settlement~~
~~The first (and larger) category comprises those BSCPs which primarily describe the mechanisms used by BSC Parties (and their Agents) to communicate with central Settlement processes (e.g. BSCCo and BSC Agents). Examples of these include the Central Volume Allocation (CVA) BSCPs that describe the interaction of Parties and Agents with the Central Registration Agent, Central Data Collection Agent and other NETA services (e.g. BSCP15, ‘BM Unit Registration’). These BSCPs are written to describe a functional process area and not limited to one particular participant’s involvement in that process.~~

~~3.1.4 Category 2 BSCPs: Interaction between BSC Parties and Party Agents~~
~~The second category comprises those BSCPs which primarily describe the interactions between Party Agents and/or Parties (with central Settlement processes playing at most a secondary role). Examples of these include the Supplier Volume Allocation (SVA) BSCPs that describe the operation of the Supplier Hub (e.g. BSCP502, ‘Half Hourly Data Collection for SVA Metering Systems Registered in SMRS’). These BSCPs are written to describe a process from the point of view of a particular Party Agent.~~

3.1.3 ~~Category 2~~ A number of BSCPs detail the processes carried out by Party Agents. Party Agents are not bound to the BSC as they are not signatories to the BSC.- The BSC places obligations on Suppliers which are fulfilled by their agents generally in accordance with these BSCPs. These BSCPs describe the requirements that the Party Agent's processes must meet in order to ensure that the BSC is correctly implemented, and should avoid prescribing the supporting processes required to implement those requirements. Where 'best practices' are identified then it would be appropriate to record this information in a separate guidance note.

~~3.1.6 The BSCPs can contain guidance (e.g. guidance on how a section of a form should be completed) and may contain fields within forms to allow for the provision of optional (but not mandatory) supporting information. Where this is done it should be clearly marked as being guidance or optional respectively.~~

3.1.4 All ~~categories of~~ BSCPs should contain the following types of information:

- (a) A statement to say which section of the Code the BSCP is derived from;
- (b) Details of BSCPs which are referenced by the processes contained in this BSCP ('Related BSCPs');
- ~~(b)(c)~~ The appropriate rules specifying how the information is to be provided;
- ~~(e)(d)~~ The actual information to be produced;
- ~~(d)(e)~~ The responsibilities for each process step;
- ~~(e)(f)~~ Timescales for the delivery of information which are measurable;
- ~~(f)(g)~~ Defined interfaces between participants;
- ~~(g)(h)~~ The format of information (e.g. forms, flow references);
- ~~(h)(i)~~ The Communications method;
- ~~(i)(j)~~ The timescales for Communication; ~~and~~
- (k) Guidance notes (that are clearly marked as such) where required;
- (l) A short list of the overarching Code requirements for the particular Party Agent on the basis that Party Agents are not signatories to the Code (where appropriate); and
- (m) Service Levels (where appropriate).-

The BSCPs should not contain workflow diagrams, with requirements being captured via interface and timetable tables.

~~3.1.8 In addition to the above, Category 2 BSCPs should also contain the following types of information:~~

- ~~(a) A short list of the overarching Code Requirements for the Particular Party Agent on the basis that Party Agents are not signatories to the Code; and~~
- ~~(b) Service Levels (which have been transferred from the PSL).~~

3.2 Party Service Lines (PSLs)

3.2.1 Annex X-1 of the BSC defines a Party Service Line as being “a document of that title, as established or adopted and from time to time modified by the Panel in accordance with the Code, setting out the requirements as to particular services which are to be performed by Parties and Party Agents.”

~~3.2.2 Historically there are eight separate PSLs corresponding to the activities of the individual Supplier Agents. The documents capture both functional and non functional requirements.~~

~~3.2.3.2.2 This model will evolve with the creation of a~~ There is currently a single Party Service Line that details the non functional requirements that are common to LDSOs and all SVA Party agents. This Party Service Line ~~shall~~ includes the following generic requirements:

- (a) audit requirements;
- (b) data retention requirements;
- (c) data quality requirements;
- (d) security control requirements; and
- (e) change control requirements.

3.3 Codes of Practice

3.3.1 Annex X-1 of the BSC defines a Code of Practice as being “a code of practice, as established or adopted and from time to time modified by the Panel in accordance with the Code, relating to Metering Equipment or any part or class thereof”

3.3.2 The Codes of Practice detail the technical requirements for Metering Systems. ~~Currently, there is a Code of Practice for all Half Hourly Metering Systems, Importing Non Half Hourly Metering Systems and Importing and Exporting Non Half Hourly Metering Systems.~~ Codes of Practice should contain the following information:

- (a) Details of what should be measured and the accuracy of the energy measurements;
- (b) The Metering Equipment Specification and the accuracy of each piece of Metering Equipment to be included in the Metering System; and
- (c) The details of the defined Metering Points.

3.3.3 It should also be noted that the Codes of Practice versions are not time limited in the same way as other documents. Any Metering System is registered to a particular Code of Practice Issue number. If the Code of Practice is amended, the Metering Systems that are registered to that Code of Practice do not have to be amended in line with the changes to the Code of Practice, and Technical Assurance checks are carried out against the Code of Practice and Issue number applicable to a Metering System at the time of its first registration. This means that most Codes of Practice have several Issues which are still in use. This also includes some versions of Codes of Practice which were developed prior to the introduction of NETA (Codes of Practice A to K2). Updates to Codes of Practice, can however only be based on the latest issue of any particular Code of Practice. Codes of Practice have both issue numbers and version numbers. If an update to a Code of Practice results in a material change to that Code of Practice, then the issue number will be incremented along with the version number. If an update to a Code of Practice is minor ~~(i.e. the change to the Code of Practice will not result in any non-compliance being issued against a Metering System fitted to that Code of Practice Issue number)~~ then the version number will be incremented only. A minor change to a Code of Practice is a change such that existing Metering

Equipment/Metering Systems which are fully compliant with the previous version number should remain compliant with the subsequent version numbers of that issue in the Code of Practice.

3.4 BSC Service Descriptions

~~3.4.1 Annex X 1 of the BSC defines a BSC Service Description as being “a document of that title, as established or adopted and from time to time modified by the Panel in accordance with the Code, setting out requirements as to particular services which are to be provided centrally as provided in Section E”.~~

~~3.4.2 The BSC Service Descriptions describe the service to be provided by the BSC Agents. The BSC Agents currently are:~~

~~(a) The Balancing Mechanism Reporting Agent (BMRA);~~

~~(b) The Central Registration Agent (CRA);~~

~~(c) The Central Data Collection Agent (CDCA);~~

~~(d) The Energy Contract Volume Aggregation Agent (ECVAA);~~

~~(e) The Funds Administration Agent (FAA);~~

~~(f) The Settlement Administration Agent (SAA);~~

~~(g) The Supplier Volume Allocation Agent (SVAA);~~

~~(h) The Technical Assurance Agent (TAA);~~

~~(i) The Teleswitch Agent;~~

~~(j) The BSC Auditor; and~~

~~(k) The Profile Administrator.~~

~~3.4.3 As a general rule, there is one BSC Service Description for each BSC Agent. The exceptions to this rule are the TAA Service Description and the SVAA Service Description. There are two TAA BSC Service Descriptions, one for SVA and one for CVA and the SVAA BSC Service Description is comprised of seven SVAA Service Lines. These documents form part of the contract with the BSC Agent.~~

~~3.4.4 The obligations of the BSC Agent must be captured in the Service Description, whether by explicitly stating the obligation or by adding an umbrella statement and references to another appropriate CSD. The content of BSC Service Descriptions is set out in the Code, section E1.3. They should include (or include a reference to another document which includes) the following elements as the Panel decides to be appropriate:~~

~~(a) Specification of the services to be provided by the BSC Agent;~~

~~(b) Performance Levels for the BSC Agent;~~

~~(c) Amounts payable by the BSC Agent for the failure to meet the required levels of performance;~~

~~(d) The development and maintenance by the BSC Agents of a contingency plan;~~

~~(e)The provision by the BSC Agent of a disaster recovery service and the maintenance of a disaster recovery plan;~~

~~(f)The preparation of BSC Agent records;~~

~~(g)The provision to the BSC Auditor of access to any records that it requires;~~

~~(h)The provision by the BSC Agent of a help-desk service; and~~

~~(i)Specification of the services to be provided by the BSC Agent.~~

3.4 Data Catalogues

3.4.1 Annex X-1 of the BSC defines the Data Catalogue as “*having the meaning given to that term in Section 01.1.3.*”

3.4.2 The Data Catalogues are, for the SVA market, the SVA Data Catalogue and for the CVA market, the CVA Data Catalogue (supported by the Logica-NETA Interface Definition and Design document (IDD) part 1 and the FAA IDD part 1 ~~which are not CSDs~~).

3.4.3 The SVA Data Catalogue is similar to the Data Transfer Catalogue (DTC) which is owned by the Master Registration Agreement Service Company (MRASCo). The SVA Data Catalogue contains some of the Settlement related flows that are contained within the DTC as well as further manual instances of these flows and other manual flows.

3.4.4 The SVA Data Catalogue should not however repeat the DTC unless this is necessary for Settlement Purposes. Where duplication between the DTC and SVA Data Catalogue is necessary, the SVA Data Catalogue should be consistent with the DTC. Therefore where necessary duplication occurs between the SVA Data Catalogue and the DTC, changes to the SVA Data Catalogue may need to be reflected in the DTC and changes to a relevant flow in the DTC should be reflected in the SVA Data Catalogue.

3.4.5 The Data Catalogues should contain the details of the flows to be sent between participants and specifically contain the following:

- (a) The data items to be included in the flow;
- (b) The format of the flow, including headers and footers;
- (c) Descriptions of the data items; and
- (d) The format of the data items.

3.5 ~~Communications Requirements Documents~~

~~3.6.1 Annex X-1 of the BSC defines a Communications Requirements Document as “*having the meaning given to that term in Section 02.2.1 (b).*”~~

3.5.1 Section 02.2.1 (b) of the BSC defines a Communication Requirements Document as being “*a document or documents of that title, as established or adopted and from time to time modified by the Panel in accordance with the Code, containing detailed requirements for sending or receiving Communications between Parties and one or more BSC Agents using one or more than one Communications Medium(s).*”

3.5.2 The ~~Communications Requirements~~ Document relates to the sending and receiving of Communications between CVA Parties, CVA Party Agents, Market Index Data Providers and a

number of the BSC Agents. There is currently only one Communications Requirement Document which, ~~mainly-exclusively~~ relates to the CVA market (although reference is made to the Managed Data Network and applicable BSCPs as the equivalent in the SVA ~~Market~~market).

3.5.3 The content of a Communications Requirements Document is set out in Section O2.3 of the Code, ~~however-with~~ the ~~details-requirements~~ of the Communications themselves ~~are~~ contained within ~~a~~ the CVA Data Catalogue, which refers to the NETA IDD Part 1.

3.5.4 The Communication Requirements Document should include (or include a reference to another CSD which includes) the following elements:

- (a) A description and specification of the Communications Medium;
- (b) The specification of the systems required by a Party in order to send and receive Communications using the Communications Medium;
- (c) Details of the tests that are required of a Party in relation to its Party System;
- (d) Any particular requirements applying to a Party where it wishes to modify its Party Systems;
- (e) Any security requirements applying in respect of the use of a Communications Medium by a Party;
- (f) Any further terms applying to the use of a Communication Medium by a Party;
- (g) The basis on which it will be determined whether and when Communications sent using the Communications Medium are deemed to have been received;
- (h) The arrangements for the recording and logging and acknowledging the sending and receipt of Communications;
- (i) The Time Standard applicable for the Communication; and
- (j) Details relating to planned Agent downtime.

3.6 The Reporting Catalogue

~~3.6.1 Section V1.4 of the BSC defines the Reporting Catalogue as being “the document of that title which sets out the data items to be contained in each of the reports mentioned in Annex V-1”.~~

~~3.7.1 Annex X-1 of the BSC defines the Reporting Catalogue as being “the document referred to in Section V-1.4, as from time to time modified by the Panel in accordance with the Code”~~

3.6.2 There is only one Reporting Catalogue which covers both SVA and CVA reporting. It catalogues and provides further information on the content of reports issued by BSC Agents and BSCCo. It provides the details of what should be contained in the reports set out in Section V, annex V1 of the Code. It should also include the provisions of other related reports such as Performance Reports and Exception Reports. It should not however cover reports that can be found in the Data Catalogues. The Reporting Catalogue should not duplicate information that is contained in a Data Catalogue or the Interface Definition & Design Documents.

4 Contents of Category 2 CSD types

4.1 BSC Service Descriptions

4.1.1 Annex X-1 of the BSC defines a BSC Service Description as being “a document of that title, as established or adopted and from time to time modified by the Panel in accordance with the Code, setting out requirements as to particular services which are to be provided centrally as provided in Section E”.

4.1.2 The BSC Service Descriptions describe the service to be provided by the BSC Agents. As a general rule, there is one BSC Service Description for each BSC Agent. The exception to this rule is for the TAA, for which there are two TAA BSC Service Descriptions, one for SVA and one for CVA. These documents form part of the contract with the BSC Agent.

4.1.3 The obligations of the BSC Agent must be captured in the Service Description, whether by explicitly stating the obligation or by adding an umbrella statement and references to another appropriate CSD. The content of BSC Service Descriptions is set out in the Code, section E1.3. They should include (or include a reference to another document which includes) the following elements as the Panel decides to be appropriate:

- (a) Specification of the services to be provided by the BSC Agent;
- (b) The development and maintenance by the BSC Agents of a contingency plan;
- (c) The provision by the BSC Agent of a disaster recovery service and the maintenance of a disaster recovery plan;
- (d) The preparation of BSC Agent records;
- (e) The provision to the BSC Auditor of access to any records that it requires; and
- (f) Specification of the services to be provided by the BSC Agent.

3.1.6